Person-Centred and Consumer Directed Mental Health Care: Transforming Care Experiences

Produced for the National Mental Health Commission by the Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Research and Education Group, University of South Australia.

Online Appendices

Appendix 6: Aligned approaches for person-centred and consumer directed care

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Co-designed service development and outcomes	2
Codesigned / Community led social and emotional wellbeing programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people	3
Emotional CPR	4
Health literacy strategies	4
Intentional Peer Support (IPS)	5
Lived experience leadership: service governance, education, and peer support	6
Open Dialogue as a social –psycho – bio approach to mental health care	7
Peer navigators: themes in the literature	7
Safewards as an example of nursing-based leadership on person-centred care	8
Safety and risk and person centred conversations: themes from research literature	9
Shared decision making as a model to facilitate person-centred decisions1	.0
Skills for promoting autonomy and choice in decision-making: literature1	.0
Supported decision making: an approach promoting person-centred and consumer directed decisions 1	.1
Trust and trauma informed relationships: themes from the literature1	.2
References1	.3

Appendix 6: Aligned approaches for person-centred and consumer directed care

Introduction

The consultation process produced suggestions of strategies and shifts for organisational change and policy formulation. The eight core shifts identified encompassed several levels of actions – including changes to mental health care delivery, organisation supports, funding and commissioning, and models of conceptualising mental health and recovery.

As a part of this, participants highlighted approaches and practice models which they saw as helping to achieve person-centred care (PCC) or consumer directed care (CDC). There were many suggestions across the consultations. These included:

- » Aboriginal Social and Emotional Wellbeing
- » Advanced Directives
- » Alternatives to Suicide (Alt2Sui)
- » Codesign
- » Connecting with People
- » Emotional CPR
- » Friendship Bench
- » Health literacy strategies
- » Intentional peer support
- » Lived experience led clinician education
- » Open Dialogue
- » Passport tools (such as wellbeing passports)
- » Peer Navigators
- » Power Threat Meaning Framework
- » Relational recovery approach
- » Safe Haven's models of crisis response
- » Safeside Prevention
- » Safewards
- » Shared Decision-making
- » Soteria Program
- » Suicide Narratives

- » Supported Decision-making
- » The Scottish Recovery Model
- » Trauma-informed care
- » Triangle of Care

In generating research evidence for the project, we haven't been able to focus on all these approaches and models. We have focused on the approaches which were more prevalent across the conversations and embedded in the shifts that people highlighted or recommended. These are described below, with a focus on outlining strategies relevant to PCC and CDC and presenting evidence around impact where available.

Codesigned service development and outcomes

In terms of this shift another focus is to consider the outcomes emerging from codesign projects, where consumer and carer leaders work with practitioners, policy makers and community to rethink and create new services, information resources and support programs.

This area of research is complex as there are 1) multiple levels of process outcomes considering good quality codesign practices and decision-making, as well as 2) service performance quality/fidelity outcomes and 3), whether codesigned programs result in better recovery or quality of life outcomes for consumers

The evidence about the third question remains underdeveloped in terms of well-designed comparison studies.¹ Studies are emerging. Pocobello et al.² compared an Italian co-produced mental health centre with traditional day centres in a cross-sectional study to measure hospitalisation rates and use of psychotropic medicines. The study reported a significantly reduced rates of hospitalisation in the coproduced service with higher rates of medicine reduction or withdrawal. Consumer perspectives on the new service highlighted the importance of parity and respectful relationships, a focus on strengths, continuity of psychological supports, social inclusion and a recovery focus.

The Victorian CORE study,³ which aimed to codesign recovery-oriented services within four mental health services (two government and two non-government non-clinical community mental health services) measured the impact of codesigned services on recovery and quality of life outcomes. The study did not find any significant differences in these outcomes between the codesigned services and the control services. Discussion points from this study noted the range of improvements that the process had made to communication and information processes, consumer flow in and from services, and information about activities and programs to connect with. The authors highlighted the complexity of whether the null change in recovery outcomes was connected to the effectiveness of codesign in identifying and supporting the central drivers of recovery, the lengths of time participants had lived with mental health issues, or other potential difficulties with the codesign that was undertaken.

Palmer et al.³ highlight the important considerations of all the key stages and processes of codesign are encouraged via lived experience leadership and facilitators, and are valued by participants when done well. These are recognition of lived experience and narrative knowledge, balanced dialogue and power, cooperation and working through decisions, accountability and shared responsibility, mobilisation of action, enactment of changes, creativity in planning and achievement of the design. Similar processes have been identified in mental health codesign processes in engaging with CALD communities⁴ and for information technology design for improving the mental health of young people,⁵ noting the need to carefully consider the transferability of codesign for work with these groups. A focus on the value of process outcomes for outcomes is in itself very important. High quality codesign identifies barriers and issues of service use from diverse consumer, carer, and community perspectives. The opportunities for consumers and carers to codesign enable important outcomes in engagement, participation, being heard, being valued and gaining new skills.

Codesigned/community led social and emotional wellbeing programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Evidence on strategies and practice for promoting the social and emotional wellbeing (SEWB) of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians point out that cultural affiliation and engagement are associated with resilience and wellbeing. Service provision must be based on a culturally appropriate model of mental health care, in ways that support language use, literacy needs and value Aboriginal world views. Service provision that is not based on cultural competency and has low levels of community ownership, meaning and support or that do not address the effects of intergenerational trauma, past and current racism and structural inequalities (e.g., poverty, homelessness) are unlikely to be helpful in promoting Aboriginal people's SEWB.⁶ This also applies to how program parameters and KPIs support self-determined program outcomes, or provide a barrier

A scoping review on the key practices adopted by programs and services designed to support Aboriginal people's SEWB identified a strong alignment between services' practice and the principles of the *National Strategic Framework for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples' Mental Health and Social and Emotional Wellbeing 2017–2023.* The principles – developed through a national consultation process – include: 1) health as a holistic concept; 2) the right to self-determination; 3) the impact of history in trauma and loss; 4) the impact of racism and stigma; 5) recognition of the centrality of kinship; 6) the need for cultural understanding; among others. Although these have pointed as central principles to observe in promoting Aboriginal people's SEWB, only one of the assessed services applied all principles altogether in a cohesive framework. The findings point that the selective application of nationally designed principles and a scarce scholarship on effective practices in SEWB program and services are areas that demand urgent attention from commissioners and service providers.

A recent study on experiences and perceptions of culture and wellbeing of Aboriginal young people reinforced the importance of events, activities, and practices that provided experiences of cultural connection, the role of elders as teachers and sources of knowledge, and the central role of family and community relationships in promoting wellbeing and resilience.⁷ Additionally, scholarship on what works

for improving the SEWB of Aboriginal people has included community and stakeholder capacity building or the establishment of community-driven health promotion initiatives.⁸

Emotional CPR

Emotional CPR (eCPR) is an educational program based on effective skills to support people experiencing emotional crisis. The 'CPR' reflects the three aims of **C**onnecting, em**P**owering and **R**evitalising that the communication is about. The original approach was developed by lived experience psychiatrist, Dan Fisher. It was further established through peer contributions and collaboration, and peer led delivery of the training.

Connecting is about using skills of deep and active listening, being present, and creating safety in supportive conversations. EmPowering seeks to help people feel engaged and more hopeful, while Revitalising is about supporting the person to reconnect with relationships and supports, or work towards health and wellbeing.⁹

The approach is taught as a community program for community members, service providers and practitioners, to help promote skills for responding to emotional crisis as a universal human experience. A network of trainers exists across different countries including Australia. Research to identify the outcomes of eCPR is mainly descriptive work on roll out and application. A recent study on program fidelity and feasibility reported that training enables learners to demonstrate skills for identifying emotions, supporting others in distress, supportive nonverbal communication, sharing emotions, self-care and social connectedness.¹⁰

Health literacy strategies

Empowering consumers to facilitate their participation in decision-making includes investing in strategies to increase mental health literacy; the consumer is empowered and supported in the decisional process.¹¹

Quantitative findings indicate that mental health literacy predicts help-seeking behaviour, beyond the impact of self-stigma of seeking mental health support, demographics (gender, ethnicity) and psychological (help seeking history, depression and anxiety symptoms) factors.¹²

Mental health literacy can be improved by use of decision supports to inform and prepare consumers for making decisions¹¹ (See also Shared decision-making below).

Qualitative evidence based on the perception of health care practitioners in hospital-based palliative care suggests consumers with low literacy levels can benefit of extra time during consultations – which needs to be supported by health settings-management. Practitioners must be able to know and recognise low health literacy and adapt their communication to the characteristic of consumers; screening for health literacy levels can be helpful, as well as supporting consumers who need help with

communication skills. This is also about the practitioner encouraging positive and supportive role of family and social networks to seek, understand, and use health information.¹³

Health literacy strategies in mental health include building links across organisations and settings. Planning from the Mental Health Commission of NSW indicates a focus on accessibility of information, engaging with young people, and finding ways to not stigmatise or exclude people in how information communicates, and building capacity in schools and community services.¹⁴

Intentional Peer Support (IPS)

IPS is a well-established approach and training program in the mental health peer movement, led by Sheryl Read. The focus promotes peer support which promotes peer conversations, dialogue and relationship that can grow understanding, awareness and possibilities. IPS is about mutual peer support, where both people in the conversation learn and share, rather than one person being the helper to the other. It works from a trauma-informed way of relating to experience, avoids assuming a problem as the basis of conversation, while encouraging peers to explore how issues are being understood and to whether there are other ways of seeing, thinking and doing. There is a focus on mutually accountability relationships and helping peers to move towards things they want to achieve. IPS training is available in Australia.¹⁵ IPS has a peer based understanding of crisis.¹⁶

The competencies in IPS practice are focused on¹⁷

- » Nurturing and cultivating connections with other.
- » Having a focus on learning together rather than helping.
- » Developing awareness of self and others' worldviews.
- » Shifting a focus from the individual to the relationship.
- » Fostering mutuality, creating space to share perspectives, and share risk and responsibility.
- » Moving the focus towards hope and possibility from fear.
- » Moving towards hopes, values and dreams rather than moving away from what is wrong or bad.
- » Self-reflection on experience, assumptions, feeling power, connection and transparency.
- » Giving and receiving feedback, and co reflection.

Lived experience leadership: service governance, education, and peer support

There are numerous studies describing the activities of lived experience leaders. Many of these are about systems advocacy activities, the development of peer organisations and the engagement of leaders within public mental health services. Most of the studies are focused on consumer leadership and use this term, while some articles use lived experience leadership to also include carer perspective leaders.

Lived experience leadership is about leading change from the lens of lived experience in ways that move across personal, organisational and public boundaries. While leaders often occupy roles as advocates, researchers, peer workers, community educators and activists, it's the leadership action, and use of peer values and knowledge that is central.¹⁸ Consumer leaders bring value to organisational and policy decision-making. This includes critical insights and consumer perspective on justice issues, stigma and service preferences and advocacy goals.¹⁹ Leaders also bring links with consumer networks, credibility and recovery values.²⁰

There is a significant body of research work on the value provided by lived experience leaders in professional education, particularly in mental health nursing. Teaching roles occur via employed consumer or carer academics or via casual teaching staff. Most of these projects have centred on consumer led education. Content and learning exercises make use of consumer perspective, critical reflection and appropriate use of personal stories to illustrate personal effects and impacts. Learning is centred on recovery values, person-centred practices, addressing stigma and a more holistic appreciation of consumer experience. It's also about exploring the social determinants of mental health. Qualitative research indicates that students report significant learning and reflection on these themes²¹ including exposing stereotypes²² and promoting a human first, rights-based approaches.²³

There are valuable older US studies on the connections between lived experience leadership, consumer run organisations, empowerment and learning new skills. These include recognition of the diverse knowledge and skills that consumer leaders bring to organisational roles. These can include governance skills, decision-making and business management, articulating visions for change, voicing values of the movement and negotiating relationships with external stakeholders for influence.²⁴ Consumer-led organisations in the US often encourage higher levels of involvement of members in organisational decision-making and volunteering than other mental health organisations.²⁵ Being a part of the organisations life through leadership or participating in social support activities was found to increase personal empowerment and recovery.²⁶ Personal changes can include as improved selfesteem, problem solving and communication and social skills.²⁷ The empowerment movement encourages a shift from passive receiving towards contribution and valued social roles.²⁸ These are important findings that promote the potential of consumer-led organisations and recovery outcomes for member participants.

Open Dialogue as a social – psycho – bio approach to mental health care

Open Dialogue (OD) initiatives can be found on several countries across Europe, in the United States and Australia. There is a significant roll out of the approach in the NHS in the UK. It corresponds to a person and network-centred approach to the supporting people experiencing mental health conditions: it aims at involving social and professional networks in discussions around treatment options and provide continuity of mental health care following presentation to services. OD privileges community treatment over hospitalisation and addresses the power imbalance experienced by mental health service users, fostering consumer's autonomy in decision-making.²⁹ Open Dialogue also has training programs for specific peer practitioners. Early Open Dialogue studies indicate reductions for people in the use of medicines, increased rates of reconnection with employment over time, and less use of hospitals.

A narrative synthesis of evidence on the efficacy of Open Dialogue as a therapeutic intervention has been published in 2018. The review included twenty-three mixed-methods, qualitative and quantitative designs, and case studies.²⁹

The review points that no conclusions can be achieved about OD efficacy as a therapeutic intervention and that implementation variations across studies make evaluation difficult. The evidence at present is of low quality due to small samples, variation of outcome measures, lack of randomisation and inadequate comparison groups, lack of blinding for rating of outcome measures and conflict of interest.²⁹

A multi-site randomised trial is being planned in the UK. The trial will assess the clinical and costeffectiveness of Open Dialogue compared to treatment as usual for consumers presenting in mental health crisis to six mental health services in the United Kingdom. The specific aims of the study is to explore whether OD is more clinically and cost effective than treatment as usual in 1) increasing time to relapse after recovery; 2) reducing time to initial recovery, increasing overall days in recovery, and increasing service-user defined recovery; 3) reducing service user and societal costs and improving health-related quality of life; and 4) increasing service user's satisfaction with care.³⁰

Peer navigators: themes in the literature

Peer navigation roles have been developed in different spaces including LGBTIQA+ health,³¹ mental health, the homelessness sector³² and the criminal justice system.³³ While peer work in mental health is a specific discipline with a unique history, values and models, navigation and community linking roles are common across broader peer practice. Peer navigators show promising outcomes in supporting consumers to access integrated care, where mental health services are co-located in primary health settings.³⁴ They can also assist consumers in terms of supporting access to housing, nutrition and engaging with criminal justice assistance, as well as developing/sharing skills in problem solving, working through crisis and goal setting.³² Peers have influence on multiple levels including role modelling, helping to generate trust between consumers and services and acting as community

resource brokers to connect consumers with different services.³³ Peers use their expertise to help others work through barriers and promote better access to mental health services.³⁵

In terms of care delivery for specific groups, peer-led services have been a key feature of many LGBTIQA+ services and programs. For example, essential roles have included information provision, sharing lived experience, creating safe environments, promoting trust and inclusion and access to services. LGBTIQA+ organisations also work with an intersectional focus, developing specific peer responses with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and CALD communities, or diverse age groups.³¹ Peers can provide important supports for CALD communities in terms of providing emotional supports, helping provide information and support for decision-making and problem solving. They can help consumers with appointments, communication, referrals and coordination.^{34, 36}

The recovery leadership, knowledge sharing, coordination and navigation roles provided by peer support workers within mental health services were evident in a recent evaluation of NSW's Peer Supported Transfer of Care Program (Peer STOC).³⁷ Qualitative outcomes from this study indicated that peers contributed to improved system integration by helping consumers to bridge relationships with clinicians and navigate across mental health and other services. The person-centred care and recovery outcomes identified included: being easier to leave hospital, reconnecting with life, daily routines, and community, feeling better understood and cared for, less traumatic experiences in hospital, improved hope, and gaining new strategies and knowledge. The quantitative outcomes from the evaluation found that consumers within Peer STOC programs were significantly less likely to be readmitted to hospital within 28 days of discharge, and for the next 12 months, compared to NSW LHN consumers not in the program. Peer STOC participants also had significantly higher rates of community mental health service use, compared to other consumers. There was no difference in rates of presenting to emergency departments for participants over time, or compared with non-program participants.³⁷

Safewards as an example of nursing-based leadership on person-centred care

The Safewards model aims at providing a safe and therapeutic environment for both consumers and staff in inpatient psychiatric services. It is an approach that involves inviting consumers to meet with nurses on the group level to discuss experiences, safety and preferred ward practices and routines. The processes of the model are focused on generating safety and mutual support for consumers and nurses, reducing conflicts, restrictive practices and coercive outcomes.³⁸

Evaluation of the implementation of the 'Safewards' model in two inpatient psychiatric wards in Germany has produced encouraging outcomes where the approach reduced the number of consumers exposed to coercive interventions as well as reducing the duration of coercive interventions.³⁹

A systematic review on mixed-methods studies on the efficacy of Safewards interventions was published in 2021. The findings suggest Safewards interventions reduced rates of conflict (one study included no statistically significant results), reduced rates of containment practices, reductions at follow up, and both staff and consumers' perceived experience of safety in the ward. The review concludes

that staff and consumers reported that the intervention improved therapeutic relationships, cohesions, and ward atmosphere, leading to consumer-centred and recovery-oriented care.⁴⁰

A study aiming at identifying nursing staff perceptions of the main barriers in establishing Safewards in acute adult inpatient wards was conducted in three general hospitals in Queensland, Australia.⁴¹ Based on quantitative analyses of the perception of 15 nursing staff, the main challenges identified corresponded to staff lack of communication when engaging with the intervention, poor support from management, lack of training and education for staff, and need to invest in reviewing training materials. Suggestions for successful implementation of the model include management support and investments in training, supervision and support during intervention implementation, and reviewing of training material to ensure the strategies fit within the ward context.⁴¹

Safety and risk and person-centred conversations: themes from research literature

Though it might mitigate immediate levels of risk, a medical-custodial model of care delivery can be experienced by consumers as ineffective in managing long-term risk. Person-centred care thus involves moving beyond a 'crisis management' model of care and towards long term collaboration and promotion of autonomy, privacy and dignity in the care relationship.⁴² Within this, there is also a need to shift from risk prediction to engagement with consumer's individual needs, specific concerns and circumstances.⁴³

These shifts require rethinking and providing alternatives to traumatic practices and processes experienced in involuntary admission, policy intervention, emergency department processes, enforced medication compliance, psychologically unsafe physical environments, and admission processes. Clear communication and transparency in the care delivery process is also fundamental to consumers' perception of safety.⁴⁴ Redesigning alternatives can occur by coproducing well-considered interventions in contrast to engaging with consumers as part of a 'professional routine'.

In the context of considering mental health treatment orders, services should facilitate consideration of benefits and costs of care options for consumer. Short term risk management that excludes the consent of a consumer can result in traumatising experiences, that have long term consequences. The principles of maintaining connection, recognising autonomy and dignity of risk should apply, promoting the consumer's right to make decisions involving risk.⁴⁵ Practices of acknowledgment, reinforcing consumers' ability and amplifying opportunities for empowerment should be facilitated in care conversations.⁴⁶

There should also be considerations to alternative options to psychiatric hospital admission, such as prevention and recovery care services.⁴⁷ A further important practice for person-centred outcomes is facilitating the transition from hospital back into the community and continuation of care when hospital admission cannot be prevented.

Shared decision-making as a model to facilitate person-centred decisions

Shared decision-making (SDM) is a model of practitioner–consumer decision-making that is gaining prominence across all of health care. It involves informed and facilitated decision-making when practitioners and consumers, including carers, are considering which treatment options to pursue, including specific medicines. The emphasis on shared decision-making focusses on considering the best available evidence on the efficacy or benefits and costs of a particular treatment, when compared with other treatments or no treatment at all. Another emphasis focusses on involving the consumers, in terms of their views, needs, preferences and experiences in the difference steps of decision-making and action.⁴⁸

Decision aids are pamphlets, booklets, pictograms, webpages, or other ways to present recent information and evidence about the treatment being discussed. Decision aids often help consumers to understand the likely benefits, risks and costs (including side-effects) of using a treatment. They can help consumers and families to identify how their own needs and preferences will matter in the decision. They lift health literacy. Some tools and resources have been developed to help consumers to identify and document their views prior to their medical consultations. These help consumers to be more prepared, knowledgeable and involved in care planning.⁴⁹

The evidence on outcomes of SDM is underdeveloped due to the difficulty of studying decision-making processes over time. However, research is building.⁵⁰ Huang et al.⁵¹ report promising outcomes in terms of better continuation with medicines, satisfaction with decisions, more positive feelings about medicines, fewer unmet needs and better recovery. Zisman-Illani et al.⁵⁰ suggests that mental health specific SDM practice is associated with outcomes of increasing empowerment, self-determination, hope and recovery. SDM requires further time for consultations and regularly builds on good therapeutic relationships. Multidisciplinary/interdisciplinary collaboration should also be a basis of sharing decision-making with consumers.⁵¹

Skills for promoting autonomy and choice in decision-making: literature

Qualitative research on the preferences and experience of mental health orders, and inpatient care highlights practice themes and skills for promoting autonomy and choice, and grounding collaborative approaches. Practitioners should consider:

- » Promoting supported decision-making over substituted decision-making.
- » Valuing carer lived expertise on providing care for their loved ones as an important source of information.⁴⁴
- » Decentralising decision-making from clinical staff and including the voices and lived experience of other support staff working with consumers (e.g., Community mental health support workers).⁴⁵

- » Exploring alternatives to coercive practices such as Community Treatment Orders.
- » Open conversations about medication efficacy and side-effects, offering choice around medication intake whenever possible.
- » Involving people with lived experience in the identification of gaps and co-production of research on consumer experience with care delivery.
- » Avoiding coercive practices as it is experienced as emphasising deficits, leading consumers to feel powerless and trapped.
- » Coercion contributes to consumer distress, and activation of trauma responses to feel in control (e.g., self-harm), can contribute to iatrogenic trauma.⁴²

Supported decision-making: an approach promoting person-centred and consumer directed decisions

SDM is an approach that is guided by the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), and seeks to replace traditional forms of substituted decision making. It is about ensuring that people with disabilities are able to make their own life decisions on an equal basis with others and have assumed legal capacity to do so. SDM shifts power on decision-making processes from clinicians to consumers and emphasises the consumers expressed wishes. SDM can be facilitated by processes such as advanced directives and nominated/ trusted decision support people. Consumers are considered the experts in relation to their own mental health experience and SDM promotes personal agency and rights to choose..⁵²

Its implementation requires good communication skills, positive attitudes and skilled practice among mental health practitioners. Health systems must be based on all-encompassing, whole of organisation approach to care and support services that maximise self-determination, choice and goal-achievement for consumers. Trust, transparency and connection shape the motivation and ability of consumers to express their decisions. Practitioners must pay attention to wishes and preferences previously specified in advancement directives; such legal support decision-making practices can facilitate implementation of SDM in care delivery.⁴⁶

Trust and trauma-informed relationships: themes from the literature

Qualitative research points to key practices and outcomes from a trauma-informed care approach. There is a major focus on avoiding coercive measures, as these traumatise or replicate the experience of past trauma for consumers, promoting fear and hypervigilance, and hindering trust. Practices identified in the literature for trauma-informed mental health care delivery include:

- » Valuing the consumer as a person with a unique history.
- » Encouraging consistency in support and awareness from carers.
- » Offering a context for validation of consumers' distress.
- » Provision of clear explanations and transparency around decision-making and implementation of routines of care.
- » Translating the consumer's preferences into outcomes whenever possible consumers need to feel that they are influencing decision-making. The provision of consumer run and peer-led mental health care delivery – lived experience can highly contribute to reducing inequality and reinforce safety in the care provider and consumer relationship.^{42, 44}

References

- 1. Palmer VJ. The participatory zeitgeist in health care: it is time for a science of participation. Journal of Participatory Medicine. 2020;12(1):e15101.
- Pocobello R, El Sehity T, Negrogno L, Minervini C, Guida M, Venerito C. Comparison of a co-produced mental health service to traditional services: A co-produced mixed-methods cross-sectional study. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2020;29(3):460-75.
- Palmer VJ, Chondros P, Furler J, Herrman H, Pierce D, Godbee K, et al. The CORE study—An adapted mental health experience codesign intervention to improve psychosocial recovery for people with severe mental illness: A stepped wedge cluster randomized-controlled trial. Health Expectations. 2021;24(6):1948-61.
- 4. O'Brien J, Fossey E, Palmer VJ. A scoping review of the use of co-design methods with culturally and linguistically diverse communities to improve or adapt mental health services. Health & Social Care in the Community. 2021;29(1):1-17.
- 5. Cheng VWS, Piper SE, Ottavio A, Davenport TA, Hickie IB. Recommendations for designing health information technologies for mental health drawn from self-determination theory and co-design with culturally diverse populations: template analysis. Journal of medical Internet research. 2021;23(2):e23502.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Closing the gap –Strategies and practices for promoting the social and emotional wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Resource sheet o. 19, 2013, Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/1c9d820f-4bf4-437d-8b15-dec682b9774c/ctgcrs19.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u>.
- Murrup-Stewart C, Whyman T, Jobson L, Adams K. "Connection to Culture Is Like a Massive Lifeline": Yarning With Aboriginal Young People About Culture and Social and Emotional Wellbeing. Qualitative health research. 2021;31(10):1833-46.
- Blignault I, Haswell M, Pulver LJ. The value of partnerships: lessons from a multi-site evaluation of a national social and emotional wellbeing program for Indigenous youth. Australian and New Zealand journal of public health. 2016;40(S1):S53-S8.
- 9. CPR E. What is Emotional CPR, 2022 [Available from: https://www.emotional-cpr.org/about-ecpr.htm.
- 10. Myers AL, Collins-Pisano C, Ferron JC, Fortuna KL. Feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of a peerdeveloped and virtually delivered community mental health training program (emotional CPR): pre-post study. Journal of participatory medicine. 2021;13(1):e25867.
- 11. Hamann J, Heres S. Adapting shared decision making for individuals with severe mental illness. Am Psychiatric Assoc; 2014.
- 12. Cheng HL, Wang C, McDermott RC, Kridel M, Rislin JL. Self-stigma, mental health literacy, and attitudes toward seeking psychological help. Journal of Counseling & Development. 2018;96(1):64-74.
- Roodbeen R, Vreke A, Boland G, Rademakers J, van den Muijsenbergh M, Noordman J, et al. Communication and shared decision-making with patients with limited health literacy; helpful strategies, barriers and suggestions for improvement reported by hospital-based palliative care providers. PloS one. 2020;15(6):e0234926.

- 14. Consortium from Swinburne University of Technology, University of NSW and University of Newcastle, Health Literacy Development: The case for action. Mental Health Commission of NSW, 2021, Available from: <u>https://www.nswmentalhealthcommission.com.au/sites/default/files/2021-</u>08/Health%20Literacy%20Development%20-%20Case%20for%20Action_compressed.pdf.
- 15. Intentional Peer Support. What is IPS, 2022 [Available from: <u>https://www.intentionalpeersupport.org/what-is-ips/?v=b8a74b2fbcbb</u>.
- 16. Sheryl Mead. Sustaining Intentional Peer Support in Crisis Alternatives, NA [Available from: <u>https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Tpso6GrlmYjbcDMdINjMPyZuy2az28YhNt08ZJCVFGs/edit</u>.
- 17. Intentional Peer Support, Intentional Peer Support Core Competencies- Self assessment tool 2022, Available from: <u>https://www.intentionalpeersupport.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/IPS-Core-Competencies-1-4-17.pdf?v=b8a74b2fbcbb</u>.
- 18. Loughhead M, McIntyre, H, Hodges, E & Procter NG, Lived experience leadership for organisational and systems change: a scoping review of concepts and evidence, University of South Australia and Lived Experience Leadership and Advocacy Network SA, Adelaide, 2020.
- 19. Daya I, Hamilton B, Roper C. Authentic engagement: A conceptual model for welcoming diverse and challenging consumer and survivor views in mental health research, policy, and practice. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2019:No-Specified.
- 20. Scholz B, Bocking J, Happell B. How do consumer leaders co-create value in mental health organisations? Australian Health Review. 2017;41(5):505-10.
- 21. Happell B, Waks S, Bocking J, Horgan A, Manning F, Greaney S, et al. 'There's more to a person than what's in front of you': Nursing students' experiences of consumer taught mental health education. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2019;28(4):950-9.
- 22. Happell B, Waks S, Bocking J, Horgan A, Manning F, Greaney S, et al. "I felt some prejudice in the back of my head": Nursing students' perspectives on learning about mental health from "Experts by Experience". Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing. 2019;26(7-8):233-43.
- 23. Bocking J, Happell B, Scholz B, Horgan A, Goodwin J, Lahti M, et al. 'It is meant to be heart rather than head'; International perspectives of teaching from lived experience in mental health nursing programs. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2019;28(6):1288-95.
- 24. Wituk S, Vu CC, Brown LD, Meissen G. Organizational capacity needs of consumer-run organizations. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2008;35(3):212-9.
- 25. Ostrow L, Hayes SL. Leadership and characteristics of nonprofit mental health peer-run organizations nationwide. Psychiatric Services. 2015;66(4):421-5.
- Brown LD, Shepherd MD, Merkle EC, Wituk SA, Meissen G. Understanding how participation in a consumer-run organization relates to recovery. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2008;42(1-2):167-78.
- 27. Brown LD. How people can benefit from mental health consumer-run organizations. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2009;43(3-4):177-88.
- Ochocka J, Nelson G, Janzen R, Trainor J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 3—A qualitative study of impacts of participation on new members. Journal of Community Psychology. 2006;34(3):273-83.

- 29. Freeman AM, Tribe RH, Stott JC, Pilling S. Open dialogue: a review of the evidence. Psychiatric Services. 2019;70(1):46-59.
- 30. Pilling S, Clarke K, Parker G, James K, Landau S, Weaver T, et al. Open Dialogue compared to treatment as usual for adults experiencing a mental health crisis: Protocol for the ODDESSI multi-site cluster randomised controlled trial. Contemporary clinical trials. 2022;113:106664.
- 31. Meridian, The role of peer-led services in improving the health and wellbeing of LGBTIQ+ people, 2021, Available from: <u>https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/meridianact/pages/359/attachments/original/1627864845/Meridiana_The_role_of_peer-led_services_in_improving_the_health_and_wellbeing_of_LGBTIQ_people.pdf?1627864845.</u>
- Corrigan PW, Kraus DJ, Pickett SA, Schmidt A, Stellon E, Hantke E, et al. Using peer navigators to address the integrated health care needs of homeless African Americans with serious mental illness. Psychiatric services. 2017;68(3):264-70.
- 33. Portillo S, Goldberg V, Taxman FS. Mental health peer navigators: Working with criminal justice– involved populations. The Prison Journal. 2017;97(3):318-41.
- 34. Corrigan PW, Pickett S, Batia K, Michaels PJ. Peer navigators and integrated care to address ethnic health disparities of people with serious mental illness. Social work in public health. 2014;29(6):581-93.
- 35. Cabassa LJ, Camacho D, Vélez-Grau CM, Stefancic A. Peer-based health interventions for people with serious mental illness: a systematic literature review. Journal of psychiatric research. 2017;84:80-9.
- Sheehan L, Torres A, Lara JL, Paniagua D, Larson JE, Mayes J, et al. Qualitative evaluation of a peer navigator program for Latinos with serious mental illness. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2018;45(3):495-504.
- 37. Hancock N, Scanlan, J.N., Banfield, M., Berry, B., Pike-Rowney, G., Salisbury, A. & Norris, S, Independent Evaluation of NSW Peer Supported Transfer of Care initiative (Peer-STOC): Final report., 2021, The University of Sydney & Australian National University.
- 38. Department of Health V, 2022, <u>https://www.health.vic.gov.au/practice-and-service-quality/safewards-victoria</u>. Safewards Victoria, 2022 [Available from: <u>https://www.health.vic.gov.au/practice-and-service-quality/safewards-victoria</u>.
- Baumgardt J, Jäckel D, Helber-Böhlen H, Stiehm N, Morgenstern K, Voigt A, et al. Preventing and reducing coercive measures—an evaluation of the implementation of the Safewards model in two locked wards in Germany. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2019;10:340.
- 40. Ward-Stockham K, Kapp S, Jarden R, Gerdtz M, Daniel C. Effect of Safewards on reducing conflict and containment and the experiences of staff and consumers: A mixed-methods systematic review. International journal of mental health nursing. 2022;31(1):199-221.
- 41. Higgins N, Meehan T, Dart N, Kilshaw M, Fawcett L. Implementation of the Safewards model in public mental health facilities: a qualitative evaluation of staff perceptions. International journal of nursing studies. 2018;88:114-20.
- 42. Prytherch H, Cooke A, Marsh I. Coercion or collaboration: service-user experiences of risk management in hospital and a trauma-informed crisis house. Psychosis. 2021;13(2):93-104.
- 43. Mulder R, Newton-Howes G, Coid JW. The futility of risk prediction in psychiatry. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2016;209(4):271-2.

- 44. Isobel S, Wilson A, Gill K, Howe D. 'What would a trauma-informed mental health service look like?'Perspectives of people who access services. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2021;30(2):495-505.
- 45. Brophy L, Kokanovic R, Flore J, McSherry B, Herrman H. Community treatment orders and supported decision-making. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2019;10:414.
- 46. Kokanović R, Brophy L, McSherry B, Flore J, Moeller-Saxone K, Herrman H. Supported decisionmaking from the perspectives of mental health service users, family members supporting them and mental health practitioners. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2018;52(9):826-33.
- 47. Harvey C, Brophy L, Tibble H, Killaspy H, Spittal MJ, Hamilton B, et al. Prevention and recovery Care Services in Australia: developing a state-wide typology of a subacute residential mental health service model. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2019;10:383.
- 48. Agency for Health Care Research and Quality, The SHARE Approach Essential Steps of Shared Decision Making: Quick Reference Guide. Department of Health and Human Resources., 2014.
- MacDonald-Wilson KL, Deegan PE, Hutchison SL, Parrotta N, Schuster JM. Integrating personal medicine into service delivery: empowering people in recovery. Psychiatric rehabilitation journal. 2013;36(4):258.
- 50. Zisman-Ilani Y, Barnett E, Harik J, Pavlo A, O'Connell M. Expanding the concept of shared decision making for mental health: systematic search and scoping review of interventions. Mental Health Review Journal. 2017.
- 51. Huang C, Plummer V, Lam L, Cross W. Perceptions of shared decision-making in severe mental illness: An integrative review. Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing. 2020;27(2):103-27.
- 52. Knight F, Kokanović R, Ridge D, Brophy L, Hill N, Johnston-Ataata K, et al. Supported decision-making: the expectations held by people with experience of mental illness. Qualitative Health Research. 2018;28(6):1002-15.